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COMMITTEE STRUCTURE 1808–1958

(Text of a chapter prepared in 1957 for the projected book (never completed) on the history of the Chapel at the Ter-jubilee in 1958 – author unknown, possibly David Wallace as the top copy was among his papers, now in the possession of his son, Norman.)

The historian is handicapped by the almost complete absence of any early Church records and he can only surmise as to the procedure followed in carrying on the day to day work of the Church. Its early history of course is dominated by the outstanding and forceful personality of Reverend Christopher Anderson who founded the Church in 1808 with a membership of 16, and which as already related worshipped in Richmond Court. The cause flourished and a larger building accommodate the increasing congregations attracted by Mr. Anderson's powerful preaching and strong personality. He was then also becoming widely known outside of Edinburgh by his writings and his ‘Annals of the English Bible’ became a classic. 

At this stage there is no record of any Office Bearers nor of Deacons Meetings nor even of meetings of Church members. It of course must be remembered that the Church was founded as an Independent Church and therefore acknowledged no Ecclesiastical superior but relied upon the guidance of the Holy Spirit. They therefore appeared to have taken up the logical if over simplified position that if they in business session were not unanimous then any proposal before them was not the will of God for them. They did not consider that any of its business was to be introduced by Motion or decided by majorities but that on the contrary a perfect unanimity should on all cases be obtained. Mr. Anderson, however, was much more than the Pastor of the Church. The Church was his child and indeed he described his relationship to the Church as one of "Paternal and pastoral care". So much so that in 1818 - after the Church has been in existence for 10 years, - Mr. Anderson himself purchased Charlotte Chapel, previously occupied by Bishop Sandford’s Church as an Episcopal Chapel, arranged for payment of the price and took the Title to the the property in his own name as an individual. He was unable to raise the full amount himself so he borrowed the balance and himself became responsible for the repayment of the loan outstanding and of the interest due on it. Considerable alterations, repairs and redecoration were necessary to the buildings which were occupied in 1818 and it is on the same site, although a new Church was erected on it in 1911, that the present Church continues to function.

From 1818 to 1837 there is no evidence of any Minutes … (remainder of page 2 and top part of page 3, about early trustees for the building,  missing) …

And that is still the position today. Whenever it became necessary a Deed of Assumption of new Trustees was executed by the surviving Trustees and recorded in the Register of Sasines, thus completing the Title of the new Trustees and the last such Deed was executed in (blank). Under present conditions, however, when it is necessary to appoint new Trustees, they are appointed by the Deacons Court but in terms of the original Deed they are in effect merely responsible for the management of the property.It may be mentioned that all Church property is held in name of these trustees for behoof of the congregation including 13 South Charlotte Street, The Manse and the Beulah Home. Indeed the property of the Church at Stenhouse which was originally founded by C.C. also stands in the name of the Trustees. (Note by Ian Balfour – made over to them, at their request, in the late 1990s).

Mr. Anderson died in 1852 and three short pastorates followed unti11860 when Rev. William Stacey Chapman resigned from ill health. Then in 1862 Rev. John E. Dovey was called as Pastor cf the Church and it is during his ministry that we first find any mention of any members of the congregation being associated with him in the management of the Church affairs.
In a pastoral letter to the Church Mr. Dovey gave particulars of the meetings of the Church and includes under the heading ‘Deacons’ the names of five members.
No records are extant as to how these appoint​ments were made but presumably they were made by the unanimous vote of a Church Meeting. It must be recalled however that at that time the membership of the Church was approximately 170 and it may well be that Mr. Dovey introduced his new idea of Deacons on the model of the Church at Lowestoft of which he was formerly the Minister.

In 1877 however when Rev. Owen D. Campbell, M.A, became Minister a very radical change in the whole organisation of the Church was made. The members considered that it was very desirable that arrangements be made for securing the active co-operation of some of the younger members of the Church in the care and direction of the temporal concerns of the Church. In all probability the Deacons who were the only office bearers of the Church were among the oldest members and may have been unable or unwilling to undertake the care and direction of the day to day administration and accordingly under the Chairmanship of the Minister the whole matter was remitted to a very able Committee including a Bank Manager, a C.A. and a prominent business man who afterwards became a Bailie of the City of Edinburgh.
That Committee had several meetings of which formal Minutes were taken and finally recommended to the Church a Constitution which with slight modification is the Constitution of the Church today.

The outstanding feature of the new Constitution was the decision to appoint two Church Courts (a) an Elders Court, the members of which were to be appointed primarily to assist the Pastor in the spiritual oversight of the Church and (b) a Deacons Court, the members of which were to co-operate with the Pastor and Elders in the charge of temporal matters only. The unique feature of these proposals was that unlike many Churches, the Deacons could not act independently of the Elders but only in co-operation with them and with the Pastor. To ensure this result it was resolved that no meeting of the Deacons Court should be regular unless the Pastor and Elders received a simultaneous invitation with the Deacons to be present - in short that the Pastor and Elders should ex officio be members of the Deacons Court of the Church.

The Committee went on to declare that these proposals would involve no change in the rights of the members – individually and collectively – to exercise an ultimate control over the affairs of the Church and both Elders and Deacons would be directly responsible to the Church for all their actions. The Committee also prepared a careful memorandum dealing with the details of the duties expected of these officebearers and the whole matter was laid before the members at a Church meeting and duly approved. The original decision was that Elections should be held annually but after two elections it was resolved to make the Election an appointment for five years and this quinquennial Election is the method still in use.

It became apparent after the Revival of 1905/1906 that a great effort must be made to teach the young converts, help them in. Bible Study and train them in the Christian way of life and with the large numbers involved, it was also obvious that the Minister who already had so much to do, could not undertake these additional responsibilities without assistance. Accordingly the Church unanimously agreed to the appointment of an Assistant Minister who was of the greatest assistance in the development of the work. Although Assistants to the Minister have been appointed from time to time they are not recognised as necessary at all times although if occasion arise there is little doubt that such an appointment would be approved. It also became apparent about the same time that a woman with the necessary spiritual qualification could exercise a beneficial ministry among the women of the congregation with particular reference to the newly joined younger women. And so a Deaconess was set apart for this particular work.
 So invaluable was this service to the Church that since that first appointment the Church has never been without a Deaconess. Her duties have never been strictly defined but she takes the Chair at certain women’s meetings, keeps the Minister informed as to the sick and sorrowing members, visits the members regularly and these visits, which are welcomed by the members, sometimes number nearly 2000 in a single year, and welcomes to the church young women from other towns and countries. She also under the supervision of the Minister keeps the Roll of Members up to date. And so we pass to the working Courts and Committees of the Church.

The Deacons Court of Charlotte Chapel comprises:

​1. The Elders Court of which at present there are sixteen elected members and two honorary members. The primary function of the Elders is to oversee the spiritual work of the fellowship and in particular to maintain the ordinances involving the interviewing of all candidates for baptism, the arranging for and oversight of Baptismal Services and the arranging for and maintaining the ordinance of the Lords Supper. Communion Services formerly were held at the close of the Morning Service every Sunday but in order to make the Service more distinct and with special reference to the occasion, the Congregation resolved about 30 years ago to substitute for that arrangement the holding of a Communion Service on the first Sunday of every month. As a number of the members are unable owing to duties to attend any Morning Service it was also agreed that the Communion Service should be observed in the Evening once in every quarter.

The Elders are responsible under the supervision of the Minister for the conduct of all meetings and in the absence of the Minister are expected to preside at such meetings. They are responsible for visitation of the members and for pulpit supply in the absence of the Minister.

2. The Deacons Court – who at present number eighteen. It is their duty to undertake the many temporal responsibilities incurred in the maintenance of the work and the fellowship. They are responsible for all financial matters, for the care and maintenance of all heritable property belonging to the Trustees of the Church, payment of' stipend and salaries, collection and disbursement of all subscriptions to foreign and home missions and generally to act as prudent men of affairs in the discharge of these responsibilities. 

These 34 men who with the Minister constitute the Deacons Court of the Church are appointed to office by the members of the Church. This is effected by means of a secret nomination and ballot every five years. The appointment of Elders takes place first and unsuccessful nominees are eligible for nomination as Deacons if they so desire. Each nominee must be nominated at least six times and then his willingness to stand is carefully ascertained before his name is put forward for election. Experience indicates that the number of times nominated before a name is put forward for election could be effectively increased to 10 or 12.

At the first Meeting after election the Court applies itself to the appointment of a Church Treasurer, a Deacons’ Court Secretary, a Superintendent of Stewards, and thereafter of the personnel of the various Committees, of the representatives to the Auxiliaries, and of a ‘Record’ Secretary.

With a membership of over 1000 members and as a result of experience it was found necessary to delegate a large part of the onerous duties involved in the office to a number of Committees. These Committees meet separately and make recommendations to the whole Court who are the deciding body. 

An endeavour is made to spread the work of the Court as evenly as possible and, to facilitate this the following method has been adopted successfully in recent months. Each office bearer is given a list of the duties involved and is asked to indicate after prayerful consideration the two capacities in which he would prefer to serve. The Committees etc. are made up from these lists and submitted for the approval of the Court. Where there are too many names for any one Committee the ultimate formation is decided by secret ballot and those not appointed are available for other duties – all appointments are subject to the final confirmation of the Court. As far as possible no office bearer is expected to accept more than two appointments. Committee Conveners are appointed by the Court using the secret ballot – one exception is the Finance Committee whose Convener is always the Treasurer. There are five main Committees as follows:​

The Finance Committee whose responsibility it is to keep a close watch on the income and general finances of the Church and to bring carefully considered recommendations to the Court regarding all expenditure, including the making of Grants, Donations etc. The business side of the Church is handled by and large by the Finance Committee which must receive the authority of the whole Court for its every transaction. Its personnel are 12 in number and from these 5 are appointed to a Sub-Committee which oversees the maintenance and fabric of the Chapel Building, the Charlotte Street Property, the Manse, and in an advisory capacity, the Beulah Homes. All estimates for work done to these premises are obtained and considered by this expert Sub-Committee who then bring their recommendation to the Finance Committee for further consideration before it to is passed on in its final form to the Court for approval or otherwise.

The Foreign Missions Committee, The function of this Committee is to keep in constant touch with our Missionaries, to bring the needs and news of these Missionaries continually before our members, to do all in their power to instil and maintain missionary interest amongst our fellowship, to encourage missionary giving and prayer backing for those on the field, and from time to time to recommend to the Court the best method of the allocation of missionary offerings. The Committee has 12 members.

The Evangelistic and Home Missions Committee. This Committee of 12 is responsible for the Evangelistic effort of the Church and is particularly concerned with the maintaining of the all the year round Open Air Witness at the corner of Charlotte Street and Princes Street and at Edinburgh’s Outdoor Forum, the Mound. Our work amongst the lodging house men at The Rock Mission in the Grassmarket also comes under its jurisdiction.

The Beulah Homes Committee. The 12 Office Bearers on this Committee deal with all that is involved in the running of these Homes for our aged members. Applications for admission, employment of staff, general maintenance etc. all come under their care and for this purpose a close liaison is kept with the Matron. 

The Quarterly Committee. A quarterly envelope offering incorporating voluntary subscriptions in lieu of seat rents is taken up in January, April, July and October each year. It is the duty of this 8 strong Committee to see that the appropriate letter and accompanying envelope are sent out to all our members and adherents at these times and to deal with the resultant monetary inflow. 

Further there are 6 representatives appointed to keep in touch with 3 of our vital Auxiliaries namely, the Sunday School, the Choir, the Young Peoples Meeting - 2 to each Auxiliary. These representatives act in an advisory capacity when occasion arises, and are directly responsible to the Court for the general conduct of these Auxiliaries.

The Appointment of the Secretary of our Charlotte Chapel Magazine ‘The Record’ completes the appointments. The chief duty here is the distribution of ‘The Record’ both in the Chapel itself and to subscribers from many parts of Britain and of the World.

Diagram illustrating the organisation set out above:​
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Representatives: ‘The Record’ Secretary; Auxiliaries (6); Sunday School (1), Choir (2), Young Peoples Meeting (2)


